SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WIHTE

MAR 29 1995

ØURT

CANAVERAL PORT AUTHORITY,

Petitioner,

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, et al.,

v.

 CASE NO. 84,743

District Court of Appeal, 5th District - No. 93-2422

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER CANAVERAL PORT AUTHORITY

HAROLD T. BISTLINE, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 0337218 PATRICIA K. OLNEY, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 0269166 STROMIRE, BISTLINE, MINICLIER, MCDERMOTT & GRIFFITH Post Office Box 8248 1970 Michigan Avenue, Bldg. E Cocoa, Florida 32924-8248 (407) 639-0505

Attorneys for Petitioner CANAVERAL PORT AUTHORITY

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the CANAVERAL PORT AUTHORITY (Plaintiff and Appellee below), will be referred to in this brief as the "Port Authority" or "CPA." The Respondent, FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE (Defendant and Appellant below), will be referred to as the "Department of Revenue" or "DOR." The remaining Respondents (Defendants and Appellants below) will be referred to by their governmental titles, i.e., the "Property Appraiser" (Defendant JIM FORD) and the "Tax Collector" (Defendant ROD NORTHCUTT).

References to the trial court's Record on Appeal will be cited as "R." followed by the page number corresponding to the Clerk's Index, along with the title of the item referenced (e.g., R. 311, Final Judgment). The transcript is in two volumes consecutively numbered and includes the transcript of an earlier hearing on a Motion for Summary Judgment, with the transcript of the non-jury trial of this case commencing at page 63 of Volume I. References to specific pages in the trial transcript will be abbreviated as TR p. 95. References to the Record on Appeal as compiled by the Fifth District Court of Appeals will be cited as "5th DCA R." followed by the page number corresponding to the appellate court's Index, along with the title of the item referenced (e.g., R. 37, Notice to Invoke Jurisdiction).

The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeals has now been published at 642 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) under the style of <u>Florida Department of Revenue v. Canaveral Port Authority</u>, and references to specific aspects of the decision will utilize the Southern Reporter citation.

v

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The present case comes to this Court following the rendition of a decision by the Fifth District Court of Appeals overturning the Circuit Court's Final Judgment in favor of the Canaveral Port Authority. The Final Judgment had been entered by the Honorable Charles M. Holcomb following a non-jury trial in which, after consideration of the evidence presented, Judge Holcomb found that the Canaveral Port Authority's fee interest in real property that it owns is not taxable by the Brevard County Property Appraiser since the Port Authority, based on the evidence presented, is a political subdivision of the State of Florida immune from ad valorem taxation of its owned real property. R. 311-324, Final Judgment. The Defendants were permanently enjoined from attempting to levy or collect any ad valorem taxes on the real property owned by the Port Authority and were ordered to refund any collected monies to the parties paying such taxes, i.e., the Port Authority or its lessees. R. 323-324, Final Judgment. Because of its finding of immunity the trial court did not reach a separate claim of exemption under Chapter 315 and § 315.11, Fla. Stat.

On appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal that court concluded¹ that the decision in <u>Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority</u> <u>v. Mikos</u>, 605 So. 2d 132 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), *review denied*, 617 So. 2d 320 (Fla. 1993) -- which the trial court followed in analyzing the evidence presented and reaching its conclusion -- did not apply

¹As is noted above, the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal has now been published and appears as <u>Florida Department of</u> <u>Revenue v. Canaveral Port Authority</u>, 642 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994).

since the legislature had expressly designated the Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority ("SMAA") as a *'political subdivision." 642 So. 2d at 1099-1100. The Fifth District (which recognized that the state has "political subdivisions" in addition to counties which are immune from taxation²) then looked to case law to determine whether the Canaveral Port Authority was a *'political subdivision" and framed the question to be decided as "whether the entity claiming immunity acts as a branch of general administration of the policy of the state" (642 So. 2d 1100) or "its role as a branch of the general administration of the policy of the state" (642 So. 2d at 1101). Utilizing this test, the Fifth District stated that the Canaveral Port Authority was not created as a "political subdivision of the state and is not "part of a centralized, statewide system of port management and operation." 642 So. 2d at 1101. The Fifth District concluded, "Given the nature of the CPA, it is not a political subdivision which is immune from taxation." 642 So. 2d at 1102.

Because of its rejection of the trial court's finding of immunity, the Fifth District addressed the question of exemption under Chapter 315, Fla. Stat., governing port facilities and stated that the exemption set forth in § 315.11 (which the Fifth District construed strictly against the taxpayer) applies only to the extent that the statutorily enumerated properties are engaged in a governmental or public use. 642 So. 2d at 1102. The Fifth District then concluded that the real properties at issue were not

²See 642 So. 2d at 1099.

exempt under the statute based on the appellate court's restrictive interpretation and its assumption that such terms as "market" and "recreational facilities" included in the statute do not apply to private enterprises that derive from port business, even if those businesses compliment the facilities of the port. 642 So. 2d at 1103. Consequently, the Fifth District held that all of the properties at issue were not exempt and reversed the judgment of the trial court. The Canaveral Port Authority's Motion for Rehearing or Certification (5th DCA R. 16-22) and Motion for Rehearing En Banc (5th DCA R. 23-29) were subsequently denied (5th DCA R. 35, Order) after which the Port Authority filed its timely Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction (5th DCA R. 37-38).

As the trial court's Record on Appeal reflects, this case began in 1992 when the Brevard County Property Appraiser attempted for the first time to impose ad valorem taxes on the fee interest which the Port Authority owns in real property at Port Canaveral. The Port Authority's Complaint, brought pursuant to Part II, Chapter 194, Fla. Stat., alleged that prior to 1992 the Brevard County Property Appraiser had never assessed ad valorem taxes on the real property owned by the Port Authority although it had non-governmental lessees apparently not performing a assessed function an ad valorem tax on the buildings and governmental improvements constructed by them on property leased from the Port Authority. R. 1-14, Complaint. The Port Authority did not contest the imposition of these separate taxes on improvements of nongovernmental lessees not performing a governmental function (nor

were these tenants parties to this action) and their propriety is not at issue in this case. See TR p. 164-169. The Port Authority did assert, however, that it is a political subdivision of the State of Florida so that its fee interest in the real property that it owns is immune from taxation under the Florida Constitution and also exempt from taxation under § 315.11, Fla. Stat. (as amended 1973), directed specifically to port authorities. Included in this litigation was the Florida Department of Revenue the since Complaint alleged that the attempted levy of taxes was unconstitutional. The Defendants answered the Complaint and asserted through the Property Appraiser the authority to tax the fee interest of the Port Authority in its real property under Chapter 196, Fla. Stat., "when considered in the context of the totality of the provision relating to exemption." R. 15-21, Answers of Defendants.

Included in the trial court's record on appeal are Requests for Admissions served by the Port Authority (R. 22-27) and Responses to those Requests filed by the Defendants (R. 140-147). Upon consideration of a Motion for Summary Judgment filed by the Port Authority the trial court entered an order denying the motion as there were issues of material fact which precluded summary judgment and needed to be resolved at trial. R. 221-230, Order on Motion for Summary Judgment. The trial court's order also noted that the critical issue was whether the Port Authority was a political subdivision of the State that was more in the nature of a county rather than a municipality, and indicated that it needed

to examine the service area of the governmental entity at issue to make this determination. R. 223, 226, Order on Motion for Summary Judgment.

Prior to the trial of this case the following material facts were established through Requests for Admissions served by the Port Authority and answered by the Property Appraiser and the Department of Revenue:

- 1. That the Department of Community Affairs has determined pursuant to Chapter 189, Fla. stat., that the Canaveral Port Authority is an independent special district of the State of Florida, as defined by § 189.403, Fla. Stat,
- 2. That the Canaveral Port Authority has been identified as an independent special district of the State of Florida by the Florida Department of Community Affairs pursuant to § 189.4035, Fla. Stat.
- 3. That the Canaveral Port Authority was created by a special act of the Florida Legislature in Chapter 28922, Laws of Florida (1953), As Amended.
- 4. That the Brevard County Property Appraiser assessed ad valorem taxes for the year 1992 on the real property owned by the Canaveral Port Authority which was leased to non-governmental lessees who the Appraiser determined are not performing a governmental or other exempt function.
- That the Canaveral Port Authority is a "port authority" as defined by § 315.02(2), Fla. Stat.
- That the Canaveral Port Authority is not a municipality as defined in § 165.031(4), Fla. Stat.
- 7. That the Canaveral Port Authority was created by a special act of the Florida Legislature and not by County Ordinance and is not an agency of a municipality.

See R. 20-27 and 140-147.

The status of the Canaveral Port Authority as an independent special district of the State of Florida is also established by the Port's Charter, Chapter 28922, Laws of Florida, Special Acts of 1953, As Amended (R. Plaintiff's Ex. 1), and by the Department of Community Affairs' designation of the Canaveral Port Authority as an independent special district in the "1992 Official List of Special Districts" prepared pursuant to § 189.4035, Fla. Stat. A certified copy of said Official List was filed with the trial court by the Port Authority and appears at R. 28-135.

The case was tried non-jury on July 30, 1993, at which time the trial court received evidence and heard witnesses on the issues specified in its order on summary judgment. The witnesses testifying included Richard Tesch, President of the Economic Development Commission of Mid-Florida (TR p. 78-83); Dr. Warren McHone, Associate Professor and Chairman of the Economics Department of the University of Central Florida (TR p. 84-94); Charles Rowland, Executive Director of the Canaveral Port Authority (TR p. 95-161); and Malcolm McLouth, Port Commissioner for the past 27 years (TR p. 170-180). Exhibits admitted into evidence included the Port Charter (Plaintiff's ex. 1); the Florida Seaport Transportation and Economic Development Council's "A Five-Year Plan to Accomplish the Missions of Florida's Seaports" (Plaintiff's Ex. 2) prepared pursuant to the mandate of Chapter 311, Fla. Stat.; Orders from the U.S. Department of Commerce concerning Port Canaveral's Foreign Trade Zone #136 (Plaintiff's Ex. 3); the Port

Authority's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the year ended 9/30/92 (Plaintiff's Ex. 4); the Port's Tariff (Plaintiff's Ex. 5); the Annual Report for Foreign Trade Zone #136 (Plaintiff's Ex. 6); maps of Port Canaveral and FTZ #136 (Defendants' Exs. 1 & 6); the Canaveral Port Authority 1992 Tax Roll (Defendants' Ex. 2); a summary of and the leases for which the Property Appraiser gave total or partial exemptions for 1992 (Defendants' Ex. 3); and a summary of and leases for which the Property Appraiser gave no exemptions for 1992 (Defendants' Ex. 4). These last two exhibits showed three separate types of ad valorem assessments, i.e., on land, buildings, and improvements. See TR p. 162-164, 167-168.

The trial court's Final Judgment was issued September 10, 1993, and found as a factual determination based on the evidence presented that the Part Authority was a political subdivision of the State more in the nature of a county so that its fee interest in its real property is immune from taxation. R. 323, Final Judgment. The trial court's findings of fact as set forth in its Final Judgment were recited by the Fifth District in its opinion as follows:

Although the Canaveral Port District is established with boundaries only within Brevard County, Florida, the Canaveral Port Authority serves and economically benefits more than the immediate area of Brevard County in which it is situated. The port at issue is the only part in east central Florida. The port's economic impact extends throughout the Central Florida region. The port exported 90 percent of all the citrus exported internationally out of Florida in this last citrus season and is essential for the movement of other physical goods in and out of the central Florida area as well. The cruise industry located at the port generates economic activity in excess of two hundred million dollars for the Central Florida serves as Central Florida's region. The port

7

international gateway to international commerce. The port's activity benefits the nation's space program and supports national defense. The port is designated as a foreign trade zone. It is a legal port of entry, a customs port. Testimony also indicated that the port was not governed by Brevard County ordinances. It may levy Ad Valoremtaxes to support it on properties located from the north end of Brevard County to below the middle of the County (Titusville, Coc[o]a, Merritt Island etc.). There are no residents within the enclave of the Port itself and the CPA has no authority over the landowners within the taxing district other than to levy and collect ad valorem taxes.

642 So. 2d at 1098-1099 and R. 321-323, Final Judgment.³ The trial court also found that "the service area of the [Port Authority] is too wide for the entity to be considered merely in the nature of a municipality" and that "the regional impact of the [Port Authority] would make it more analogous to a county." R. 321-322, Final Judgment. Because of its finding of immunity the trial court did not address the question of exemption under § 315.11, Fla. Stat. Timely Notice of Appeal was subsequently filed by the Defendants (R. 335, Notice of Appeal) resulting in the decision now at issue before this Court.

³The trial court's Final Judgment is also included as Appendix B to the Brief on Jurisdiction of the Canaveral Port Authority.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case presents for resolution by this Court the issue of what test should be utilized in determining whether a governmental entity is a "political subdivision*' of the state which is thereby immune from taxation. While case law recognizes that the state has political subdivisions in addition to counties that enjoy "inherent immunity" under broad grounds of fundamentals of sovereign government, the courts have differed on the test to be utilized in determining whether a particular governmental entity enjoys this immunity. In Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority v. Mikos, 605 So. 2d 132 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), review denied, 617 So. 2d 320 (Fla. 1993), the Second District Court of Appeal considered whether the governmental entity was "a political subdivision of the state, more in the nature of a county than of a municipality, [which] is therefore immune from taxation," 605 So. 2d at 133, and concluded from the totality of the circumstances that the Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority was a political subdivision immune from taxation. This inquiry was used by the trial court in the instant case, which resulted in the finding of immunity by the trial court since the evidence presented to it established that the Canaveral Port Authority was a political subdivision of the state more in the nature of a county than a municipality.

On appeal of the trial court's final judgment the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the case at bar rejected the applicability of <u>Sarasota-Manatee</u> and stated that the issue "depends on whether the entity claiming immunity acts as a branch

of general administration of the policy of the state." 642 So, 2d at 1100. Utilizing this particular test, the appellate court stated that the Canaveral Port Authority is not part of a centralized, statewide system of port management and operation and so is not, given its nature as perceived by the appellate court, a political subdivision which is immune from taxation. 642 So. 2d at 1101-1102.

If the test of <u>Sarasota-Manatee</u> is the correct inquiry, then the Petitioner Canaveral Port Authority submits that the trial court correctly employed this test and its factual finding of immunity should not have been disturbed on appeal. If, on the other hand, the inquiry utilized by the Fifth District in the present case is the correct one (i.e., whether the entity claiming immunity acts as a branch of general administration of the policy of the state), the same result must necessarily follow. Here the uncontroverted evidence at trial established (contrary to the observation of the Fifth District) that the Canaveral Port Authority is part of a centralized, statewide system of port and operation within the Florida Department of management Transportation under which Florida's twelve statutorily designated deepwater international seaports (including Port Canaveral) play a critical role in the general administration of the policy of the state, its intermodal transportation system, and the enhancement of international trade on a statewide basis. Consequently, if the inquiry posed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal is determined

to be the correct one, the trial court's finding of immunity should still have been affirmed on the evidence presented.

If the Canaveral Port Authority is somehow not immune from taxation, the courts must then consider whether it is otherwise exempt from taxation. Although the Canaveral Port Authority has not claimed an exemption under § 196.199, Fla. Stat., for the properties at issue in the present case, it does submit that these properties are exempt under § 315.11, Fla. Stat., which expressly grants an exemption to "port facilities" as they are broadly defined in § 315.06(2). Despite the directive of § 315.16 that these statutory provisions be liberally construed, the Fifth District nevertheless stated it was subjecting them to strict construction and, in a case of first impression, went on to eliminate the properties at issue in the present case from the statutory definition of "port facilities" -- 'and thereby the exemption of § 315.11 -- without any statutory, factual or logical basis for doing so. While the Canaveral Port Authority submits that the statutory exemption granted in § 315.11 is broad enough to encompass all of the properties at issue in the present case, if the restrictive interpretation first set forth by the Fifth District is utilized, then the case should be remanded to the trial court for further evidentiary proceedings directed to this new issue, and should not have been resolved on the basis of the assumptions made by the Fifth District.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SECOND DISTRICT IN <u>SARASOTA-MAMATEE AIRPORT AUTHORITY v.</u> <u>MIKOS</u>, USED THE PROPER TEST TO DECIDE POLITICAL SUBDIVISION/ TAX IMMUNITY STATUS, WHICH REQUIRES THE AFFIRMANCE OF THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THE CANAVERAL PORT AUTHORITY IS IMMUNE FROM AD **VALOREM** TAXATION OF ITS FEE INTEREST IN ITS REAL PROPERTY.

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