FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 8 1995

By ____

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CANAVERAL PORT AUTHORITY, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Petitioner

vs.

CASE NO. 84,743

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, JIM FORD, as Brevard County Property Appraiser, and ROD NORTHCUTT, as Brevard County Tax Collector,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

JOSEPH T. CARUSO, ESQUIRE Post Office Box 541271 Merritt Island, FL 32954-1271 (407) 453-3880

9 Caruso; Seropian

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

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

Jacksonville, 157 Fla. 240, 25 So. 2d 648 (1946)

The "proprietary" nature of a port authority was also discussed by the Fifth Circuit in <u>Broward County Port Authority</u>

v. Arundel Corp., 206 F.2d 220, 223 (5th Cir. 1953), wherein that Court stated:

While the Port Authority has broad general powers, in some respects similar to those of a governmental subdivision, they are all directed and authorized to be exercised to the ultimate end of the development, maintenance and operation of a port, a business of a restricted nature, and it does not possess the usual incidents and powers of a governmental subdivision of the state. It is in effect a business corporation and the discharge of its functions, though amply authorized, is in the forwarding or carrying on of a proprietary function.

Similarly, in Volusia County v. Daytona Beach Racing and Recreational Facilities Dist., supra, this Court held that the operation of a racing facility was purely proprietary and for profit and did not serve a governmental purpose. 341 So. 2d at 502.

The <u>Williams v. Jones</u> case, decided under the 1968

Constitution, construed Ch. 71-133, Laws of Fla., as permitting exemption for government-owned property leased to private entities <u>only</u> when the lessee performed a governmental-governmental purpose. The decision of this Court had the effect of overruling and retreating from prior decisions arising under the 1885 Constitution which had applied a test of "predominant public use" to determine the right to exemption. <u>See</u>, <u>Volusia</u>

<u>County</u>, <u>supra</u>, 341 So. 2d at 501, n.4.

In St. John's Associates v. Mallard, supra, the First
District Court recognized this and held that the "predominant
public use" test which was applied by the courts to the statutes
that existed prior to the enactment of Ch. 71-133, Laws of Fla.,
in such cases as <u>Dade County v. Pan American World Airways, Inc.,</u>
275 So. 2d 505 (Fla. 1973), and <u>Orlando Utilities Comm. v.</u>
Milligan, 229 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970), <u>cert. denied</u>, 237
So. 2d 539 (Fla. 1970), <u>no</u> longer had any legal efficacy.
In St. John's, at page 37, that Court stated:

We conclude that a more recent line of cases militates against St. John's argument that an exemption exists. E.g., Straughn v. Camp, 293 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 1974); Williams v. Jones, 326 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1975); Volusia County v. Daytona Beach Racing, etc., 341 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 1976). Therefore the test formerly applied in those cases relied upon by St. John's i.e., predominant public use, no longer has continuing efficacy and we must look instead to the use actually made of the property leased

See, Volusia County, supra, 341 So. 2d at 501, n.5, wherein this Court noted that § 196.001, Fla. Stat. (1975), supersede the statutory provisions considered by this Court in Dade County v. Pan American World Airways, Inc., supra.

to determine its tax exempt status.

In <u>Tre-O-Ripe Groves</u>, <u>Inc. v. Mills</u>, 266 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972), the First District Court addressed the following situation:

Appellant is the lessee in a contract with the National Aeronautics & Space Administration. The contract covers certain citrus groves in Volusia County to which the National Aeronautics & Space Administration holds fee title and which appellant rent rents for \$49,000.00 per year which entitles it to use the land for cultivation and harvesting of citrus fruit.

Thereafter the Court stated:

We are of the opinion that the trial court correctly dismissed the second amended petition for the reason that the same failed to state a cause of action. It is well established beyond the need for citation of cases that when Federal property is placed in the hands of private enterprises for gain by that enterprise, the immunity from taxation of the property is lost. We do not feel that appellant has sufficiently alleged facts in its petitions which would give rise to an exemption to this rule. The utilization of the property as a predominately public or private purpose, not the character or nature of its owner, is the major criteria in determining liability for taxes. There can be no doubt in the present case that the purposes to which the citrus groves are utilized are essentially private to the appellant, rather than public. (e.s.)

See also, Bancroft Inv. Corp. v. City of Jacksonville, 157 Fla. 546, 27 So. 2d 162 (1946); U.S. v. Brown, 41 F. Supp. 838 (S.D. Fla. 1941). If federally-owned property leased to a private lessee who uses same in the cultivation and harvesting of citrus is taxable, then certainly a lessee of the Port Authority's property using same for proprietary purposes is entitled to no different treatment.

In <u>City of Bartow v. Roden</u>, 286 So. 2d 228 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973), the Second District Court of Appeal considered the question of whether certain property located within a municipally-owned airport complex and leased by private enterprises or held out for lease by the City was subject to ad valorem taxes and held that it was. In discussing the import of the Airport Authority Law 16 that Court stated, at page 230:

Yet, we do not believe that when the Legislature stated that the use of properly acquired for an airport was for a public purpose, it was determining that those portions of the airport property which might be leased to private enterprise for non-aeronautical activities would be tax exempt.

For example, a municipality might property acquire vast acreage for the purpose of building a large airport and later find that much of the property was not required for use in connection with the maintenance of the airport. Under those circumstances, having originally acquired the property for the airport, the municipality would be authorized under Section 332.08 to lease it to private interests, but it would be an anomaly to permit such property to remain off the tax rolls. This would either have the effect of giving a preference to a lessee of airport property over his competitors or of permitting the municipality to charge more rent than the ordinary landlord because the lessee would not have to pay taxes. (e.s.)

Although <u>City of Bartow</u> was decided before the enactment of Ch. 71-133, Laws of Fla., now codified in the ad valorem tax laws, ¹⁷ and before the <u>Williams</u> decision establishing the "governmental-governmental use" test which replaced the

Section 332.03, Fla. Stat., which dealt with airports and was known as the Airport Law of 1945, stated that ". . . the exercise of any other powers therein granted to municipalities, are hereby declared to be public, governmental and municipal functions, exercised for a public purpose, and matters of public necessity."

¹⁷ See, Ch. 196, Fla. Stat.

"predominant public use" test, it recognized that private use of governmentally owned property renders such property taxable.

The lessees in the instant case include warehouses, fuel stations, deli restaurants, fish markets, charter boat ships, offices and other private commercial businesses. R-312. It is uncontested that the lessees in this case were not performing a governmental or exempt function.

II. A. THE REAL PROPERTY OWNED BY THE AUTHORITY, LEASED TO NON-GOVERNMENTAL LESSEES, WHO WERE NOT PERFORMING A GOVERNMENTAL OR OTHER EXEMPT FUNCTION PURSUANT TO § 196.199(4), FLA. STAT., IS SUBJECT TO AD VALOREM TAXATION.

While Florida case law has established that the State and its political subdivisions are immune from taxation, such immunity can be waived by the Legislature, and thus the state and its political subdivisions, as well as all entities created by general or special law, can be made subject to taxation. The Authority is merely an entity created by the Legislature by special law, and any powers, duties, responsibilities or exemptions it possesses are derived from the legislation establishing it. It is the Respondents' position that the Authority is not a political subdivision; is not more in the nature of a county; and is not immune from ad valorem taxation on its property leased to non-governmental lessees who are not performing a governmental or other exempt function.

However, it does not matter whether the Authority is in the nature of a county, political subdivision, or a municipality, because if the Legislature, as it has done in this case, subjects the property of the Authority to taxation, the property is

subject to taxation unless an exemption is also provided by the Legislature. 18

The power to tax resides in the Legislature, Cheney v.

Jones, 14 Fla. 587, 610 (1874); Hunter v. Owens, 80 Fla. 812, 86

So. 839 (1920), and that power can be exercised by the

Legislature except as limited by the Constitution. There is no

limitation in the Constitution on the exercise of the legislative

power to subject the property of the Authority to ad valorem

taxation.

No express provision in the Florida Constitution creates immunity from taxation for the State, its political subdivisions, or any statutory created entities such as the Authority. Florida case law has established that the State and its political subdivisions (i.e., counties) are immune from taxation. Park-N-Shop, Inc. v. Sparkman, 99 So. 2d 571, 573-74 (Fla. 1958). However, the discussion cannot stop at this point. Neither the Second District Court of Appeal in SMAA, nor the Authority in the instant case, addressed whether this "immunity" can be waived by the Legislature and if so, had the Legislature done so in the instant case? Without addressing these questions, both ignored

Notwithstanding the dicta in the instant decision, First Union National Bank of Florida v. Ford, 636 So. 2d 523, 524 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), or Orange County, Florida v. Florida Department of Revenue, 605 So. 2d 1333 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), immunity from taxation enjoyed by the State and its political subdivision can be waived by the Legislature. Such a waiver need not be contained in the Constitution. State ex rel. Charlotte County v. Alford, 107 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1958).

the entire controversy and arrived at a conclusion which is incomplete and legally incorrect. 19

B. IMMUNITY DOES NOT PRECLUDE LEGISLATIVE WAIVER

Assuming arguendo that the Authority was originally immune from taxation, then § 196.199(4), Fla. Stat., is a legislative waiver of any immunity from ad valorem taxation that the Authority might otherwise enjoy. In <u>Dickinson v. City of Tallahassee</u>, 325 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1975), this Court addressed the question of whether § 166.231, Fla. Stat., constituted a legislative waiver of state immunity from city imposed utility taxes. At page 3, this Court stated: "The crux of this case, as it was in <u>Alford</u>, is whether the <u>State has waived its immunity from city taxation</u> in either the 1968 Constitution or the applicable tax statutes." (e.s.)

This Court in the case of State ex rel. Charlotte County v. Alford, 107 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1958), cited in Dickinson, was faced with the question of the taxable status of land owned by the Game and Fish Commission, a constitutional state agency. At page 29, this Court stated:

That, within constitutional limits, the Legislature may provide for the taxation of lands or other property of the State, is readily conceded. The question arises, however, whether the subject act actually does so provide. (e.s.)

In Andrews v. Pal-Mar Water Control Dist., 388 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), rev. denied, 392 So. 2d 1371 (1980), the Fourth District Court of Appeal ruled that the district is a political subdivision of the state, and therefore immune from taxation. 388 So. 2d at 5. This decision does not address district property leased to private interests for non-public purposes.

The thrust of §§ 196.001 and 196.199, Fla. Stat., is to permit taxation of government-owned property. Unlike the general act in <u>Dickinson</u>, and the special act in <u>Alford</u>, the legislative waiver in § 196.199(4), Fla. Stat., is clear and unequivocal.

Section 196.199(4) provides in pertinent part:

Property owned by any municipality, agency, authority, or other public body corporate of the state which becomes subject to a leasehold interest or other possessory interest of a nongovernmental lessee other than that described in paragraph (2)(a), ... shall be subject to ad valorem taxation unless the lessee is an organization which uses the property exclusively for literary, scientific, religious, or charitable purposes. (e.s.)

Section 196.199(4), Fla. Stat., provides for taxation of property owned by any municipality, agency, authority or other public body corporate of this state which becomes subject to a leasehold interest or other possessory interest of a nongovernmental lessee. This section does not have reference to the taxation of a leasehold interest but refers to the taxation of the referenced governmental unit and the property it owns. The statute also provides for an exemption if property owned by any municipality, agency, authority, or other public body corporate which is subject to a lease and the lessee is an organization which uses the property governmental purpose or exclusively for literary, scientific, religious or charitable purposes. Capital City Country Club, 613 So. 2d at 450-451. See also, Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 92-32 (1992).

Section 196.199(4), Fla. Stat., is constitutional. See, Capital City Country Club, supra.

Section 196.199(4), Fla. Stat., is squarely consistent with § 196.199(1), Fla. Stat., which requires both ownership and use by the named government bodies, expressly including political subdivisions and municipalities for tax exemption to inure. This Court has previously recognized this principle. Williams v. Jones, supra. See also, Ocean Highway and Port Authority v. Page, 609 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (Port Authority, which argued that it was a tax exempt entity, failed to show that it was entitled to an ad valorem tax exemption as to the improvements it constructed on the privately owned land it leased.) Cf., Mastroianni v. Memorial Medical Center, 606 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (Taxpayers who held legal title to property which was leased to a nonprofit corporation that provided direct medical services to patients in a nonprofit hospital were not entitled to ad valorem tax exemptions when the taxpayers themselves were not exempt entities.)

Both <u>Dickinson</u> and <u>Alford</u> held that immunity <u>could be waived</u> by a proper legislative enactment. The Authority's position in the instant case begs the question - if § 196.199(4), Fla. Stat., did not waive any immunity the public bodies named may have had, then what did it do?

The Legislature obviously saw fit to treat <u>all</u> government property owned by the entities listed in § 196.199(4), Fla. Stat., leased to private persons the same. The Authority's position would tax municipal and other listed entities as property leased to private entities and used for private purposes, but impose no financial burden on private lessees of

Authority owned property, in spite of the fact that the Legislature clearly intended that both Authority and municipal lessees be treated identically. Capital City Country Club, supra.

The underpinning of the Authority's position is that the Legislature <u>lacks</u> the <u>power</u> to permit taxation of such property used for private purposes. This is in absolute express and direct conflict with <u>Dickinson</u>, <u>Alford</u>, <u>Williams</u> and <u>Capital City</u> <u>Country Club</u>, <u>supra</u>.

C. THE AUTHORITY IS NOT A POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA AND IS NOT IMMUNE FROM AD VALOREM TAXATION

In the present case, the Authority contends and the trial court held that the Authority is a political subdivision of the State and more in the nature of a county, therefore, immune from taxation. R-323. While the trial court relied in part on Andrews v. Pal-Mar Water Control District, supra, and SMAA neither is supportive of its ruling. The trial court's reliance on this Court's holding in Hillsborough County Aviation Authority v. Walden, 210 So. 2d 193 (Fla. 1968), 21 (the first Walden case), is misplaced. R-312. This Court in the first Walden case determined that the Hillsborough County Aviation Authority, created by Special Act in 1945, as amended, was entitled to claim exemption only, not immunity, from ad valorem taxation. 22 The Authority does not deal with this.

While this Court in the first $\underline{\text{Walden}}$ case made the general statement that the property owned by a county was immune, 210 So. 2d at 195, this Court was not asked and did not address the question of whether the immunity could and was waived.

In the first <u>Walden</u> case, the Airport Authority argued that it was a political subdivision of the State and, therefore, immune from taxation. This Court agreed with and adopted the trial court's findings in that case that the real property owned by the Aviation Authority was exempt, not immune, from taxation.

This Court stated that:

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